



Elborn, J. Stuart and Geller, David E. and Conrad, Douglas and Aaron, Shawn D. and Smyth, Alan R. and Fischer, Rainald and Kerem, Eitan and Bell, Scott C. and Loutit, Jeffery S. and Dudley, Michael N. and Morgan, Elizabeth E. and VanDevanter, Donald R. and Flume, Patrick (2015) A phase 3, open-label, randomized trial to evaluate the safety and efficacy of levofloxacin inhalation solution (APT-1026) versus tobramycin inhalation solution in stable cystic fibrosis patients. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis*, 14 (4). pp. 507-514. ISSN 1873-5010

**Access from the University of Nottingham repository:**

[http://eprints.nottingham.ac.uk/31682/1/Elborn\\_LISvTIS\\_revision\\_110114.pdf](http://eprints.nottingham.ac.uk/31682/1/Elborn_LISvTIS_revision_110114.pdf)

**Copyright and reuse:**

The Nottingham ePrints service makes this work by researchers of the University of Nottingham available open access under the following conditions.

- Copyright and all moral rights to the version of the paper presented here belong to the individual author(s) and/or other copyright owners.
- To the extent reasonable and practicable the material made available in Nottingham ePrints has been checked for eligibility before being made available.
- Copies of full items can be used for personal research or study, educational, or not-for-profit purposes without prior permission or charge provided that the authors, title and full bibliographic details are credited, a hyperlink and/or URL is given for the original metadata page and the content is not changed in any way.
- Quotations or similar reproductions must be sufficiently acknowledged.

Please see our full end user licence at:

[http://eprints.nottingham.ac.uk/end\\_user\\_agreement.pdf](http://eprints.nottingham.ac.uk/end_user_agreement.pdf)

**A note on versions:**

The version presented here may differ from the published version or from the version of record. If you wish to cite this item you are advised to consult the publisher's version. Please see the repository url above for details on accessing the published version and note that access may require a subscription.

For more information, please contact [eprints@nottingham.ac.uk](mailto:eprints@nottingham.ac.uk)

**A Phase 3, Open-Label, Randomized Trial to Evaluate the Safety and Efficacy of Levofloxacin Inhalation Solution (APT-1026) versus Tobramycin Inhalation Solution in Stable Cystic Fibrosis Patients**

J Stuart Elborn<sup>1</sup>, David E. Geller<sup>2</sup>, Douglas Conrad<sup>3</sup>, Shawn D. Aaron<sup>4</sup>, Alan R. Smyth<sup>5</sup>, Rainald Fischer<sup>6</sup>, Eitan Kerem<sup>7</sup>, Scott C. Bell<sup>8</sup>, Jeffery S. Loutit<sup>9</sup>, Michael N. Dudley<sup>9</sup>, Elizabeth E. Morgan<sup>9</sup>, Donald R. VanDevanter<sup>10</sup>, Patrick A. Flume<sup>11</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Centre for Infection and Immunity, Queens University Belfast, BT9

<sup>2</sup>Florida State University College of Medicine, Orlando, FL

<sup>3</sup>Department of Medicine, University of California, San Diego

<sup>4</sup>The Ottawa Hospital Research Institute, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada.

<sup>5</sup>Division of Child Health, Obstetrics & Gynaecology, School of Medicine, University of Nottingham, UK.

<sup>6</sup>Pneumologische Praxis München-Pasing, Munich, Germany

<sup>7</sup>Department of Pediatrics, Hadassah Medical Center, Jerusalem, Israel

<sup>8</sup>The Prince Charles Hospital and Queensland Children's Medical Research Institute, Queensland, Australia

<sup>9</sup>The Medicines Company, San Diego, CA

<sup>10</sup>Department of Pediatrics, Case Western Reserve University School of Medicine, Cleveland Ohio

<sup>11</sup>Departments of medicine and Pediatrics, Medical University of South Carolina, Charleston, SC

Corresponding author:

Patrick A. Flume, M.D.

Medical University of South Carolina

96 Jonathan Lucas Street, 812-CSB

Charleston, SC 29425

Office: (843) 792-3167

Fax: (843) 792-0732

flumepa@musc.edu

Word count: 2928

Key words: cystic fibrosis, antibiotics, Pseudomonas, aerosol, fluoroquinolone

Clinicaltrials.gov identifier NCT02109822

**Background** Inhaled antibiotics are standard of care for persons with cystic fibrosis (CF) and chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* airway infection. APT-1026 (levofloxacin inhalation solution, LIS) is fluoroquinolone in development. We compared the safety and efficacy of LIS to tobramycin inhalation solution (TIS) in persons  $\geq 12$  years old with CF and chronic *P. aeruginosa* infection.

**Methods** This multinational, randomized (2:1), non-inferiority study compared LIS and TIS over three 28-day on/off cycles. Day 28 FEV<sub>1</sub> % predicted change was the primary endpoint. Time to exacerbation and patient-reported quality of life superiority were among secondary endpoints.

**Results** Baseline demographics for 282 subjects were comparable. Non-inferiority was demonstrated (1.86% predicted mean FEV<sub>1</sub> difference [95% CI -0.66 to 4.39%]). LIS was well-tolerated, with dysgeusia (taste distortion) the most frequent adverse event.

**Conclusions** LIS is a safe and effective therapy for the management of CF patients with chronic *P. aeruginosa*.

flume desktop 19/10/2014 15:38

Deleted: 240 mg BID

## INTRODUCTION

Cystic fibrosis (CF) is characterized by chronic respiratory tract infection with multiple bacterial species, including *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* [1]. Chronic *P. aeruginosa* infection is associated with accelerated progression of lung disease, increased morbidity, and decreased survival [2-4].

Inhaled antipseudomonal antibiotics are standard therapy to suppress infection, reduce risk of pulmonary exacerbations, improve quality of life, and preserve lung function in CF patients chronically infected with *P. aeruginosa* [5, 6]. Approved inhalational antibiotics for use in people with CF and chronic *P. aeruginosa* infection in the EU are tobramycin, colistimethate, and aztreonam, and in the US are tobramycin and aztreonam (e-supplement for approved product names).

There is need for additional safe and effective inhaled antibiotics. The prevalence of chronic *P. aeruginosa* infection increases about 3% per year of age [7], with >70% chronically infected by adulthood [8]. As median predicted survival for CF has exceeded 40 years of age [8], adherence to consensus treatment guidelines [5, 6] will result in many patients being treated for decades with inhaled antibiotics.

There is evidence that the FEV<sub>1</sub> response to aerosolized tobramycin becomes attenuated in individuals with CF after exposure of more than 6 months [9, 10], a phenomenon that cannot be fully accounted for by selection of bacterial populations with decreased *in vitro* tobramycin susceptibilities [9]. Similar attenuation of efficacy may occur for other inhaled antibiotics [11]. In addition, patient intolerance to some inhaled antibiotic formulations can be substantial [12, 13]. Thus, there is a need for additional options, including alternate classes of antibiotics, to treat

patients who are intolerant or have developed attenuated response and to allow for rotation of therapies to reduce the emergence of antimicrobial ineffectiveness [14]

Fluoroquinolones have high potency and broad spectrum of bactericidal activity and so are attractive to develop as inhaled therapy for CF. APT-1026 (levofloxacin inhalation solution, LIS; also formerly known as MP-376) [15] is the first inhaled solution form of a fluoroquinolone intended for use in chronic maintenance therapy. We describe the results of a phase 3 study designed to compare the efficacy and safety of LIS with tobramycin inhalation solution (TIS) when administered over multiple cycles in individuals with CF and chronic *P. aeruginosa* infection who had previously used inhaled tobramycin.

## **METHODS**

### *Study Design*

This was a randomized, open-label, parallel group, active comparator trial conducted at 125 CF centers in Europe, USA, and Israel. Subjects were recruited between Feb 2011 and Aug 2012. Eligible patients were randomized 2:1 to three 28 days on/28 days off treatment cycles of LIS 240 mg (2.4 mL of a 100 mg of levofloxacin per ml as APT-1026) [twice daily \(BID\)](#) or TIS 300 mg (5 mL) BID (TOBI<sup>®</sup>, Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corp.), with seven study visits 28 days apart (Figure 1). TIS was delivered with a PARI LC<sup>®</sup> Plus nebulizer with compressor as indicated in the prescribing information, and LIS was delivered with the PARI investigational eFlow<sup>®</sup> nebulizer. Comparison to the approved licensed therapy and delivery device is mandated by the European Medicine Agency for approval of a new inhaled antibiotic for CF [16]. Subjects and study coordinators were aware of the treatment assignment, but the site

investigators and medical monitors remained blinded in order to minimize treatment bias during the study.

The study was conducted in accordance with Good Clinical Practice, as recommended by the Declaration of Helsinki and the International Congress of Harmonization Guidelines, and the laws and regulations of each study site. Institutional Review Boards and/or Ethics Committees approved the study for each site. Patients provided written consent [and/or](#) parents provided consent for their children prior to undergoing study procedures.

### *Participants*

Eligible patients were  $\geq 12$  years of age with documented CF diagnosis, a forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV<sub>1</sub>) between 25 and 85 percent of their predicted values using Hankinson/NHANES III reference equations [17], chronic airways infection with *P. aeruginosa*, and had received at least three 28-day courses ( $> 84$  days) of inhaled TIS over the 12 months prior to screening. [Prior TIS use was obtained by subject report and verified in the medical record.](#) Chronic *P. aeruginosa* infection was defined as report of a respiratory secretion culture positive for *P. aeruginosa* in the 12 months immediately prior to screening and a positive culture obtained at the screening visit 2-4 weeks prior to randomization. Patients continued their routine respiratory care and medications. Patients were not permitted to use other antipseudomonal antibiotics other than Study Drug unless deemed necessary by the Investigator to treat a suspected exacerbation. Detailed inclusion and exclusion criteria and randomization schema can be found in the e-supplement.

### *Endpoints*

The primary efficacy endpoint was the relative change in FEV<sub>1</sub> percent predicted from baseline to day 28. The trial was designed as a non-inferiority study in accordance with guidance published by the EMA [16]. Additional endpoints included change in other spirometry parameters (FEV<sub>1</sub> [L], FEF<sub>25-75</sub> [L/s], FVC [L]) from baseline to day 28, time to pulmonary exacerbation, time to administration of antipseudomonal antibiotics other than Study Drug, change from baseline in CF Questionnaire-Revised (CFQ-R) respiratory symptom score [18], and change from baseline in sputum *P. aeruginosa* density (log<sub>10</sub> colony-forming units (CFU) per gram sputum). [Lung function was compared between treatment groups after only 28 days to reduce the probability that concomitant antibiotic treatment for pulmonary exacerbation would confound analyses.](#) A pulmonary exacerbation was defined per protocol as a patient experiencing change in  $\geq 4$  of 12 concurrent signs or symptoms [19] regardless of decision to treat with an antibiotic. An independent blinded adjudication board reviewed all instances in which patients received additional antipseudomonal antibiotics but did not meet the protocol definition of an acute exacerbation to determine if these treatments were associated with exacerbation (further description in e-supplement). Adverse events and serious adverse events were captured from baseline to the final visit for each patient.

Throat swabs or sputum were collected at all study visits (except visit 4/day 84) for selective bacterial culture and *in vitro* susceptibility testing by central laboratories. Distinct *P. aeruginosa* morphotypes from patients were analyzed separately. Bacterial densities in sputum specimens were determined by dilution plating.

### *Statistics*



Statistical analysis was performed on the intention to treat (ITT) population consisting of all randomized patients. The primary non-inferiority endpoint of relative change in FEV<sub>1</sub> percent predicted from baseline to day 28 was assessed with an analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) model including fixed effects for treatment group and the stratification binary variables of geographic region, age and baseline FEV<sub>1</sub> percent predicted. If the lower boundary of the 2-sided 95% confidence interval (CI) for the treatment difference (LIS-TIS) was  $> -4\%$  (pre-specified non-inferiority margin), non-inferiority of LIS to TIS was concluded. The prospective analysis plan dictated that if non-inferiority of LIS to TIS was demonstrated, a subsequent assessment of superiority was to be performed using a 2-sided test for difference at a 5% level of significance.

The sample size was based on a 4% non-inferiority margin, an 18% SD in relative change from baseline in FEV<sub>1</sub> percent predicted, and a 10% discontinuation rate over the first 28 days of the study. A sample size of 267 patients randomized 2:1 to LIS and TIS, respectively, was selected to provide 90% power with a 2-sided 5% significance level based on an assumption that LIS was 4 percentage points better than TIS.

Time to pulmonary exacerbation and time to treatment were analyzed by Cox proportional hazard method, with statistical significance determined by stratified log-rank test. There was no alpha adjustment for multiple testing for the other efficacy variables. P-values from these tests were considered to be descriptive only and were evaluated for nominal significance only (i.e., whether  $\leq 0.05$ ). Levofloxacin and tobramycin minimum inhibitory concentrations (MIC) were determined using broth dilution reference methods as published by the Clinical Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI; REF-M100). Changes in the levofloxacin MIC were evaluated as the proportion of patients for which the levofloxacin MIC of their most

resistant *P. aeruginosa* isolate changed by >2 fold (the limit of sensitivity of dilution testing) from baseline to the end of the study using a 2-sided Fisher's exact test with a 5% significance level. [20]

## RESULTS

Two hundred and eighty two patients were randomized in this study; 189 to receive LIS and 93 TIS, with 272 available for safety evaluation (Figure 2). Baseline characteristics of the groups were similar (Table 1). At the randomization visit, *P. aeruginosa* and *Staphylococcus aureus* were isolated in 93% and 47% of patients, respectively (*P. aeruginosa* was isolated from all patients at the screening visit as per inclusion criterion). There were no differences in baseline *P. aeruginosa* antibiotic susceptibility patterns between the two groups (e-supplement Table 1). Concomitant medications were also similar between the two groups at baseline (e-supplement Table 2). The median number of the inhaled antibiotic courses during the previous year was 5 and 44% of the enrolled patients had received 6 or more courses.

### *Efficacy*

The study met the primary endpoint of non-inferiority in relative change in FEV<sub>1</sub> percent predicted from day 0 to day 28. The least squares (LS) mean between-group difference (LIS minus TIS) in FEV<sub>1</sub> was 1.86% [95% CI -0.66 to 4.39%]. As non-inferiority of LIS was demonstrated, a subsequent assessment of superiority was performed. The difference between the LS means for relative change in FEV<sub>1</sub> percent predicted at day 28 between LIS and TIS was not statistically significant (2.24%, p=0.15; Figure 3; e-supplement Table 3). A pre-planned analysis of categorical change in FEV<sub>1</sub> percent predicted from baseline to day 28 showed

improvement for 70% of patients receiving LIS compared to 53% of patients receiving TIS (p = 0.02). Similar trends were seen for FVC and FEF<sub>25-75</sub> (e-supplement Tables 4 and 5).

#### *Time to exacerbation, additional antibiotic requirement and hospitalisation.*

The time to first exacerbation was not significantly different in the LIS group (median 131 days) compared to the TIS group (median 90.5 days) (HR = 0.78; 95% CI: 0.57 to 1.07, p=0.15; Figure 4). The median time to administration of antibiotics was 141 days for LIS and 110 days for TIS (HR = 0.73; 95% CI: 0.53 to 1.01; p = 0.04 by stratified log rank test). The proportion of patients hospitalized for a respiratory exacerbation over the 168 day study period was significantly lower in the LIS group than the TIS group (17.5% versus 28.0%, p = 0.04).

#### *CFQ-R Respiratory Domain*

Scores in the respiratory domain of the CFQ-R were similar at baseline. The LS means increased (i.e. improvement) in the LIS group and decreased in the TIS group at day 28 (3.19 units, p = 0.05; e-supplement Figure 1). [The results are similar between the two groups at the end of the study.](#)

#### *Microbiology*

Both treatments reduced sputum *P. aeruginosa* density, with the magnitude of reduction greater for TIS than LIS, although the difference in change from baseline to day 28 was not significantly different (LS mean difference 0.44 log<sub>10</sub> CFU/g; 95% CI -0.01 to 0.88). *P. aeruginosa* densities increased during the subsequent period off treatment. Over the course of the study, the proportion of patients who experienced a >2-fold increase in the levofloxacin MIC

of their most levofloxacin-resistant *P. aeruginosa* isolate was similar in the two treatment groups (21% for LIS versus 17% for TIS;  $p = 0.5$ ) (e-supplement Figure 2). No significant emergence of other bacterial opportunists was observed in either treatment group during the study.

### *Safety*

Discontinuations from the study (Figure 2) and the occurrence of treatment emergent adverse events (TEAEs; Table 2) were similar between the two groups. Treatment emergent serious adverse events (SAEs) were reported for 22.0% of LIS and 32.2% of TIS patients. Excluding disease progression, treatment-emergent SAEs were reported for 7.7% of LIS patients and for 14.4% of TIS patients during the entire study. There was a higher incidence of dysgeusia (taste distortion) in patients treated with LIS which accounted for the higher incidence of TEAEs reported in >5% of patients (Table 2). During the treatment periods, the TEAEs other than dysgeusia that were reported for at least 5% more LIS patients than TIS patients were cough, increased sputum, paranasal sinus hypersecretion, and headache. Fluoroquinolone class effects associated with systemic administration, such as nausea, arthralgia and tendonitis were uncommon in this study. The incidence of arthralgia was low and similar between treatment groups (5.5% LIS, 5.6% TIS), and there were few cases of arthropathy and arthritis/osteoarthritis in the LIS group. One LIS patient had an SAE of costochondritis that led to discontinuation of study drug and resolved after treatment. One LIS patient had symptoms consistent with tendonitis but there were no reports of tendon rupture.

### **DISCUSSION**

The study demonstrates that LIS is not inferior to TIS in the treatment of patients with CF and chronic *P. aeruginosa* infection over 28 days. [Although](#) the relative change in FEV<sub>1</sub> percent

flume desktop 19/10/2014 15:30

Deleted: T

predicted at the end of each treatment period and the median time to first exacerbation favoured LIS compared to TIS (Figure 4), the differences between treatments were not significant. Additionally, respiratory symptoms measured by the CFQ-R respiratory domain improved for LIS patients compared to those receiving TIS (e-supplement Figure 1).

TIS and LIS both reduced the sputum density of *P. aeruginosa*. In addition, there were no clinically relevant changes in MICs to either drug during the study. Previous placebo-controlled studies of inhaled antibiotics have noted an association between mean antimicrobial effect (measured by change in bacterial density) and mean lung function benefit [9, 21]. However, while there was a numerically greater mean antimicrobial effect among patients treated with TIS (Figure 3), there was a numerically greater change in FEV<sub>1</sub> for those treated with LIS, suggesting there is not a simple relationship between the two measures.

Pulmonary exacerbations are frequent and important events for patients with CF [22]. In this study, no difference was observed between the two groups in the occurrence of pulmonary exacerbations, even when including the adjudicated results of those patients treated with systemic antimicrobial agents but not meeting the protocol-defined signs or symptoms of an exacerbation. There was a significantly different incidence of hospitalizations between groups, which was lower in the LIS group compared to TIS. Taken together these suggest a benefit in reduction of exacerbations from treatment with LIS (as has previously been shown for TIS [9]).

There was a significant benefit in CFQ-R respiratory domain scores for patients treated with LIS compared to TIS. However the patterns of response in this measure were unusual compared to other inhaled antibiotic studies. In previous trials, mean improvements in CFQ-R respiratory domain scores during treatment waned when off therapy. In this study, there was a general improvement in the CFQ-R score in the LIS group throughout the trial, whereas there

was little effect in the TIS group. The explanation for these changes is not clear from our data, but may reflect the higher incidence of pulmonary exacerbations in the TIS treated group.

One of the objectives of this study was to assess the safety of LIS compared to TIS, a therapy recommended in CFF and ECFS pulmonary guidelines [5, 6] and used over many years [23]. Overall the safety profile of LIS was similar to that of TIS. The most notable difference in safety profiles was the higher incidence of taste distortion in patients receiving LIS, but this did not appear to have an impact on adherence to the regimen. [The inclusion criteria requiring a history of TIS use offers a distinct advantage to TIS with respect to tolerability; patients who could not tolerate TIS would not have participated. The previously reported rate of taste perversion for TIS was 6.6%.](#)

There are some limitations to the design and interpretation of this study. The first is that the subjects were not blinded to treatment assignment because of differences in nebulizers used for LIS and TIS administration. Despite an effort to reduce bias by attempting to keep the investigators blinded to treatment assignment, it was not possible to do this for study participants. An active comparator was employed to study LIS because of the regulatory requirements to provide data on the noninferiority of LIS compared to the current standard of care for inhaled antibiotic therapy, TIS, over an extended period [16]. The regulatory requirements also necessitated the use of different delivery devices. Whereas it might be perceived that the faster nebulizer might be preferable (i.e. favoring LIS), the choice of the nebulizer would not favor one drug over the other for the primary endpoint (i.e. FEV<sub>1</sub>). It is acknowledged that patients, and possibly investigators, were aware of the treatment allocation in this study, and perhaps this may have influenced patient care and the assessment of subjective outcomes, such as the diagnosis and treatment of pulmonary exacerbations or patient quality of life. Such biases might have an impact on the subjective endpoints, but [we believe are unlikely to have affected objective endpoints \(e.g. FEV<sub>1</sub>\) in this study.](#)

flume desktop 1/11/2014 17:15

**Deleted:** they should not

flume desktop 1/11/2014 17:15

**Deleted:** the

An additional limitation was that patients had a substantial treatment experience with inhaled tobramycin. On the one hand this might favour the efficacy findings toward LIS, given the possibility of an attenuated response to TIS over time. On the other hand, there was a likely selection for pre-existing TIS tolerance in this population, so we might expect fewer discontinuations in the TIS group. However, we can also presume a considerable treatment experience with systemic fluoroquinolones in this population, given the substantial use of fluoroquinolones for the treatment of CF pulmonary exacerbations [24] and the levofloxacin susceptibilities of *P. aeruginosa* isolated from patients at baseline of this study (e-supplement Table 1).

In conclusion, LIS has been shown to be non-inferior to TIS in people with CF chronically infected with *P. aeruginosa*. There was no significant difference in time to first exacerbation between the two groups but there was significant improvement in quality of life assessed by CFQ-R respiratory scores, and a nominally significant reduction in respiratory-associated hospitalizations. No major safety concerns were seen in either group, and changes in airway microbiology were not dissimilar from what is observed in this patient population over the course of time. LIS is as safe and as effective as the standard of care inhaled antibiotic, TIS, and offers an alternative class of antibiotics for use in the long term treatment of people with CF who are chronically infected with *P. aeruginosa*.

flume desktop 19/10/2014 15:27

Deleted: at least

## **Acknowledgments**

We would like to thank all of the participating sites (complete list in Supplement) as well as all of the patients and their families who participated in this study. We would also like to acknowledge the statistical support performed by Brian Beus (Synteract, Inc.) and the contributions of the Blinded Adjudication Board including Felix Ratjen (The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto), George Retsch-Bogart (University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill) and Moira Aitken (University of Washington).

## **Contributorship**

JSE revised the design of the study, implemented the trial in the United Kingdom, interpreted the data, and drafted and revised the paper. He is a guarantor.

DEG revised the design of the study, implemented the trial in Florida, interpreted the data, and revised the paper.

DC revised the design of the study, implemented the trial in California, interpreted the data, and revised the paper.

SDA revised the design of the study, implemented the trial in Canada, interpreted the data, and revised the paper.

ARS revised the design of the study, implemented the trial in the United Kingdom, interpreted the data, and revised the paper.

RF revised the design of the study, implemented the trial in Germany, interpreted the data, and revised the paper.

EK revised the design of the study, implemented the trial in Israel, interpreted the data, and revised the paper.

SCB revised the design of the study, analysed the data, and drafted and revised the paper.

JSL designed data collection tools, monitored data collection for the whole trial, wrote the statistical analysis plan, cleaned and analysed the data, and drafted and revised the paper. He is a guarantor.

MND designed data collection tools, monitored data collection for the whole trial, wrote the statistical analysis plan, cleaned and analysed the data, and revised the paper.

EEM designed data collection tools, monitored data collection for the whole trial, wrote the statistical analysis plan, cleaned and analysed the data, and revised the paper.

DRV cleaned and analysed the data, and drafted and revised the paper. He is a guarantor.



PAF revised the design of the study and the statistical analysis plan, implemented the trial in South Carolina, interpreted the data, and drafted and revised the paper. He is a guarantor.

Additional contributors who implemented the trial in their respective region are listed in the Supplement.

## REFERENCES

- [1] Gibson RL, Burns JL, Ramsey BW. Pathophysiology and management of pulmonary infections in cystic fibrosis. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*. 2003;168:918-51.
- [2] Courtney JM, Bradley J, McCaughan J, O'Connor TM, Shortt C, Bredin CP, et al. Predictors of mortality in adults with cystic fibrosis. *Pediatric pulmonology*. 2007;42:525-32.
- [3] Hoiby N, Flensburg EW, Beck B, Friis B, Jacobsen SV, Jacobsen L. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection in cystic fibrosis. Diagnostic and prognostic significance of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* precipitins determined by means of crossed immunoelectrophoresis. *Scand J Respir Dis*. 1977;58:65-79.
- [4] Kerem E, Viviani L, Zolin A, MacNeill S, Hatziaorou E, Ellemunter H, et al. Factors associated with FEV1 decline in cystic fibrosis: analysis of the ECFS Patient Registry. *The European respiratory journal*. 2014;43:125-33.
- [5] Doring G, Flume P, Heijerman H, Elborn JS. Treatment of lung infection in patients with cystic fibrosis: current and future strategies. *Journal of cystic fibrosis : official journal of the European Cystic Fibrosis Society*. 2012;11:461-79.
- [6] Mogayzel PJ, Jr., Naureckas ET, Robinson KA, Mueller G, Hadjiliadis D, Hoag JB, et al. Cystic fibrosis pulmonary guidelines. Chronic medications for maintenance of lung health. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*. 2013;187:680-9.
- [7] Rosenfeld M, Emerson J, McNamara S, Thompson V, Ramsey BW, Morgan W, et al. Risk factors for age at initial *Pseudomonas* acquisition in the cystic fibrosis epic observational cohort. *Journal of cystic fibrosis : official journal of the European Cystic Fibrosis Society*. 2012;11:446-53.
- [8] Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Patient Registry. 2012 Annual Data Report Bethesda. 2013;Maryland.
- [9] Ramsey BW, Pepe MS, Quan JM, Otto KL, Montgomery AB, Williams-Warren J, et al. Intermittent administration of inhaled tobramycin in patients with cystic fibrosis. Cystic Fibrosis Inhaled Tobramycin Study Group. *The New England journal of medicine*. 1999;340:23-30.
- [10] VanDevanter DR, Geller DE. Tobramycin administered by the TOBI((R)) Podhaler((R)) for persons with cystic fibrosis: a review. *Medical devices*. 2011;4:179-88.
- [11] Assael BM, Pressler T, Bilton D, Fayon M, Fischer R, Chiron R, et al. Inhaled aztreonam lysine vs. inhaled tobramycin in cystic fibrosis: A comparative efficacy trial. *Journal of cystic fibrosis : official journal of the European Cystic Fibrosis Society*. 2013;12:130-40.
- [12] Konstan MW, Flume PA, Kappler M, Chiron R, Higgins M, Brockhaus F, et al. Safety, efficacy and convenience of tobramycin inhalation powder in cystic fibrosis patients: The EAGER trial. *Journal of cystic fibrosis : official journal of the European Cystic Fibrosis Society*. 2011;10:54-61.
- [13] Schuster A, Haliburn C, Doring G, Goldman MH. Safety, efficacy and convenience of colistimethate sodium dry powder for inhalation (Colobreathe DPI) in patients with cystic fibrosis: a randomised study. *Thorax*. 2013;68:344-50.
- [14] VanDevanter DR, Ballmann M, Flume PA. Applying clinical outcome variables to appropriate aerosolized antibiotics for the treatment of patients with cystic fibrosis. *Respiratory medicine*. 2011;105 Suppl 2:S18-23.
- [15] Geller DE, Flume PA, Griffith DC, Morgan E, White D, Loutit JS, et al. Pharmacokinetics and safety of MP-376 (levofloxacin inhalation solution) in cystic fibrosis subjects. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*. 2011;55:2636-40.
- [16] European Medicines Agency Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP). Guideline on the clinical development of medicinal products for the treatment of cystic fibrosis. 2008. p. EMEA/CHMP/EWP/9147/2008. .
- [17] Hankinson JL, Odencrantz JR, Fedan KB. Spirometric reference values from a sample of the general U.S. population. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*. 1999;159:179-87.

- [18] Quittner AL, Buu A, Messer MA, Modi AC, Watrous M. Development and validation of The Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire in the United States: a health-related quality-of-life measure for cystic fibrosis. *Chest*. 2005;128:2347-54.
- [19] Fuchs HJ, Borowitz DS, Christiansen DH, Morris EM, Nash ML, Ramsey BW, et al. Effect of aerosolized recombinant human DNase on exacerbations of respiratory symptoms and on pulmonary function in patients with cystic fibrosis. The Pulmozyme Study Group. *The New England journal of medicine*. 1994;331:637-42.
- [20] Burns JL, Van Dalfsen JM, Shawar RM, Otto KL, Garber RL, Quan JM, et al. Effect of chronic intermittent administration of inhaled tobramycin on respiratory microbial flora in patients with cystic fibrosis. *The Journal of infectious diseases*. 1999;179:1190-6.
- [21] McCoy KS, Quittner AL, Oermann CM, Gibson RL, Retsch-Bogart GZ, Montgomery AB. Inhaled aztreonam lysine for chronic airway *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in cystic fibrosis. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*. 2008;178:921-8.
- [22] Ferkol T, Rosenfeld M, Milla CE. Cystic fibrosis pulmonary exacerbations. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 2006;148:259-64.
- [23] Konstan MW, VanDevanter DR, Rasouliyan L, Pasta DJ, Yegin A, Morgan WJ, et al. Trends in the use of routine therapies in cystic fibrosis: 1995-2005. *Pediatric pulmonology*. 2010;45:1167-72.
- [24] Wagener JS, Rasouliyan L, VanDevanter DR, Pasta DJ, Regelman WE, Morgan WJ, et al. Oral, inhaled, and intravenous antibiotic choice for treating pulmonary exacerbations in cystic fibrosis. *Pediatric pulmonology*. 2013;48:666-73.

## FIGURE LEGENDS

Figure 1. Study design. Patients were randomized 2:1 to receive LIS or TIS. Three cycles of 28 days BID treatment followed by 28 days off treatment were studied.

Figure 2. Patient disposition

Figure 3. Mean changes from Baseline in FEV<sub>1</sub> % predicted and sputum *P. aeruginosa* density across the study by treatment group. Gray boxes denote on-treatment periods. Solid circles and lines denote LIS, open circles and dashed lines denote TIS. Bars represent standard errors. Upper panel: Mean relative change from baseline in FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted. The LS mean for relative change in FEV<sub>1</sub> percent predicted at Day 28 was in favour of LIS, but the difference was not statistically significant (2.24%, p=0.15). Lower Panel: Mean change from Baseline in log<sub>10</sub> *P. aeruginosa* colony-forming units per gram sputum.

Figure 4. Time-to-exacerbation by treatment group. Gray boxes denote on-treatment periods. Solid circles and lines denote LIS, open circles and dashed lines denote TIS. Circles represent times at which patients were censored from the analysis.

**Table 1: Demographics at baseline**

	TIS (n=93)	LIS (n=189)
Age, years		
Mean (SD)	28.8 (10.9)	28.1 (8.96)
Median	26.0	27.0
>18 years	80 (86.0%)	163 (86.2%)
Male Sex, N (%)	56 (60.2%)	103 (54.5%)
US Patients, N (%)	63 (67.7%)	128 (67.7%)
FEV <sub>1</sub> percent predicted		
Mean (SD)	53.2 (15.7)	54.8 (17.0)
Median	51.9	54.0
<55, N (%)	52 (55.9%)	100 (52.9%)
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup>		
Mean (SD)	21.5 (3.30)	21.8 (3.57)
Median	20.8	21.0
Inhaled antibiotic courses during previous year		
Mean (SD)	6.0 (2.79)	6.0 (2.83)
Median	5.0	5.0
≤2, N (%)	3 (3.2%)	8 (4.2%)
3, N (%)	8 (8.6%)	23 (12.2%)
4, N (%)	17 (18.3%)	28 (14.8%)
5, N (%)	25 (26.9%)	44 (23.3%)
≥6, N (%)	40 (43.0%)	85 (45.0%)
Baseline pathogen isolation, N (%)		
<i>P aeruginosa</i>	86 (92.5%)	175 (92.6%)
<i>S aureus</i>	35 (37.6%)	96 (50.8%)
Methicillin resistant <i>S aureus</i>	12 (12.9%)	38 (20.1%)
<i>S maltophilia</i>	8 (8.6%)	20 (10.6%)
<i>A xylosoxidans</i>	6 (6.5%)	14 (7.4%)
<i>B cepacia</i> complex	1 (1.1%)	0 (0.0%)

**Table 2: Treatment Emergent Adverse Events (entire study)**

	TIS N=90	LIS N=182
System Organ Class / Preferred Term		
Patients Reporting at Least 1 Adverse Event	90 (100.0%)	180 (98.9%)
Respiratory, thoracic and mediastinal disorders		
Cough	48 (53.3%)	106 (58.2%)
Sputum increased	40 (44.4%)	95 (52.2%)
Respiratory tract congestion	32 (35.6%)	68 (37.4%)
Increased viscosity of bronchial secretion	28 (31.1%)	59 (32.4%)
Paranasal sinus hypersecretion	18 (20.0%)	49 (26.9%)
Haemoptysis	18 (20.0%)	29 (15.9%)
Sputum discoloured	16 (17.8%)	26 (14.3%)
Dyspnoea exertional	15 (16.7%)	21 (11.5%)
Rales	8 (8.9%)	8 (4.4%)
Dyspnoea	5 (5.6%)	8 (4.4%)
Oropharyngeal pain	2 (2.2%)	12 (6.6%)
Wheezing	3 (3.3%)	5 (2.7%)
Nasal congestion	1 (1.1%)	8 (4.4%)
Epistaxis	5 (5.6%)	2 (1.1%)
General disorders and administration site conditions		
Disease progression	59 (65.6%)	103 (56.6%)
Fatigue	25 (27.8%)	58 (31.9%)
Exercise tolerance decreased	14 (15.6%)	23 (12.6%)
Pyrexia	10 (11.1%)	17 (9.3%)
Investigations		
Weight decreased	36 (40.0%)	57 (31.3%)
Forced expiratory volume decreased	15 (16.7%)	17 (9.3%)
Pulmonary function test decreased	8 (8.9%)	14 (7.7%)
Blood glucose increased	7 (7.8%)	4 (2.2%)
Nervous system disorders		
Dysgeusia	0 (0.0%)	46 (25.3%)
Sinus headache	13 (14.4%)	35 (19.2%)
Headache	6 (6.7%)	11 (6.0%)

Infections and infestations		
Nasopharyngitis	11 (12.2%)	17 (9.3%)
Sinusitis	8 (8.9%)	8 (4.4%)
Upper respiratory tract infection	5 (5.6%)	5 (2.7%)
Gastrointestinal disorders		
Abdominal pain	7 (7.8%)	8 (4.4%)
Nausea	7 (7.8%)	11 (6.0%)
Musculoskeletal and connective tissue disorders		
Arthralgia	5 (5.6%)	10 (5.5%)
Metabolism and nutrition disorders		
Decreased appetite	16 (17.8%)	23 (12.6%)
Skin and subcutaneous tissue disorders		
Rash	7 (7.8%)	6 (3.3%)